IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 93-7502
(Summary Cal endar)

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

ver sus

LEWS M LTON HOUSTON,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of M ssissipp
(CR 93-13-WC()

(May 4, 1994)

Before JOLLY, WENER and EMLIO M GARZA, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Def endant - Appel l ant Lewis M| ton Houston was convicted on his
guilty plea of violating 18 U.S.C. 8§ 922(g), felon in possessi on of

afirearm He appeals the sentence inposed by the district court,

“Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needless
expense on the public and burdens on the legal profession.™
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



claimng error by the district court inits assessnent of a three-
| evel increase under Guidelines 8§ 3A1.2 and a two-Ilevel increase
under § 3CI. As our review of the case reveals no reversible
sentencing error, we affirm
I
FACTS AND PROCEEDI NGS

After responding to a call about a domestic dispute at a
health clinic in Jackson, M ssissippi, a police officer eventually
pursued Houston as he fled the scene and finally apprehended him
During the chase a fully-loaded .25 caliber sem -automati ¢ handgun
fell to the ground from Houston's jacket pocket.

Houston pl eaded guilty to a one-count indictnent chargi ng him
W th possession of a firearmby a convicted felon. At sentencing,
the district court accepted the recommendation in the PSR (which
cal cul ated the recommended sentence range on the bases of, inter
alia, a three-level increase under 8§ 3Al.2(b) and a two-Ievel
increase under 8§ 3Cl), overruled Houston's objections, and
sentenced Houston to 120 nonths incarceration, three-years
supervised release, and a nmandatory $50 fine. Houston tinely
appeal ed.

|1
ANALYSI S

A Oficial Victim

Houston argues that the three-point enhancenent under
8§ 3Al.2(b), the "official victinl guideline provision, should not

have been applied to his case because there is no evidence that he



either pointed or fired the gun at the officer. Houston challenges
the district court's determnation that his pulling the gun from
his jacket pocket was tantanount to an aggravated assault.

We reviewchall enges to the district court's interpretation of

the sentencing guidelines de novo. United States v. Rodriquez,

942 F.2d 899, 901 (5th Gr. 1991), cert. denied, 112 S.C. 990

(1992). A defendant's base offense level is increased by three
levels if
during the course of the offense or imediate flight
therefrom the defendant . . . , knowng or having
reasonable cause to believe that a person was a |aw
enforcement or corrections officer, assaulted such
officer in a manner creating a substantial risk of
serious bodily injury[.]
8§ 3Al. 2(b). Houston relies on application note 1 that states,
"[t] his guideline applies when specifiedindividuals are victins of
the of fense. This guideline does not apply when the only victimis
an organi zation, agency, or the governnent." 8§ 3Al.2, comment.
(n.1). W have determ ned that application note 5, not application

note 1, governs 8 3Al1.2(b). See United States v. Otiz-G anados,

12 F.3d 39, 43 (5th Cr. 1994). Application note 5 to 8§ 3Al.2
provi des that § 3Al.2(b)

applies in circunstances tantanount to
aggravated assault against a |aw enforcenent
or corrections officer, commtted in the
course of, or in imediate flight follow ng,
anot her offense, such as bank robbery. Wile
this subdivision may apply in connection with
a variety of offenses that are not by nature

targeted against of fici al vi cti ns, its
applicability islimted to assaultive conduct
agai nst | aw enforcenent or corrections

officers that 1is sufficiently serious to
create at | east a "substantial risk of serious



bodily injury" and that is proximate in tine
to the comm ssion of the offense.

8§ 3Al.2, comment. (n.5). Adjustnents under this guideline are
determned on the basis of all relevant conduct as defined by

8§ 1B1. 3. United States v. Gonzales, 996 F.2d 88, 93 (5th Cir.

1993) .

We are satisfied by our review of all of the rel evant conduct
surrounding this offense that the three-point adjustnent to
Houston's offense level is justified. Theresa WIlson called the
| ocal ATF office on behalf of her friend, Victoria Pate.
Ms. WIlson net the responding officer, Steve Sansom and told him
that Ms. Pate was being harassed by Houston inside the clinic.
Sansom found Ms. Pate sitting next to Houston, |ooking visibly
shaken. 1In his report the police officer noted that Houston stood
up and inforned the officer that he (Houston) had served 6 years in
prison and that he was not being taken anywhere for anything
Houston then ran fromthe building and Sansomfollowed in pursuit.
The police officer's report described the subsequent events as
fol | ows:

After he was outside, the suspect put his left
hand inside his jacket pocket. The suspect
was still running and at the sane tine, began
turning his upper body to his left. He then
started pulling his left hand out of his
pocket. He produced a chrone pl ated handgun.
From his actions, there was no doubt that he
was going to shoot at this officer. It was
obvi ous that the handgun becane snagged on t he
l'inings of the jacket pocket. The |lining cane
out of the pocket. The suspect had the gun
conpletely out of his pocket as he was
t ur ni ng. Then the handgun fell. It was
obvious that the suspect's gun was snatched
from his grip as it snagged on the pocket
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I'ining. The suspect then turned away and
started runni ng away.

The PSR contains the same account of these events.

Ms. Pate was interviewed by ATF officers followng the
incident at the clinic, and she subsequently testified at the
sentencing hearing as well. She confirnmed that she had sworn out
a m sdeneanor warrant for assault and a peace bond agai nst Houst on,
her former boyfriend, and that on the day at i ssue Houston appeared
at the clinic threatening to "blow her brains out” and to kill M.
Wlson. M. Pate also indicated that the reason she did not advise
the respondi ng officer that Houston was arnmed was that she feared
t he possi bl e consequences. She stated that at the clinic she was
fearful of Houston and that he "acted |i ke he was goi ng off, | osing
it or sonething, [by] the way he was tal king."

The court properly considered all of Houston's relevant
conduct before applying 8 3Al.2(b). After Houston's attorney
suggested that the officer coul d have been apprehensi ve about what
Houston intended to do with the gun without being in a substanti al
risk of serious bodily injury, the court responded:

THE COURT: But what about the rest of the
circunstances that the officer mentions in his
report and that are nentioned also in the
presentence investigation report that at the
time he initially approached this defendant,

that the defendant told him he wasn't going
anywhere and appeared to be surly and

conbati ve.

MR. Kl RKSEY: | don't really think that has
any bearing on whether or not he, at that
point intinme, thereas -- he was not under any

substantial risk of bodily injury. He stated
to me, Your Honor, he didn't even realize M.
Houst on had a weapon until he dropped it.
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THE COURT: |  understand that. But I'm
| ooking at the big picture as to what your
client's attitude was at that tinme and during
t he circunstance.

. that your client was threatening soneone
and saying he was going to blow her brains
out .

THE COURT: Al right. And then the police
officer clainmed that vyour <client nmade a
statenent that he wasn't goi ng anywhere. And
thereafter was the chase, and thereafter was
the apprehension on the part of the police
of ficer.

What |' masking, then, is aren't you sort

of isolating just the chase and not | ooking at

the entire circunstance to see what vyour

client's disposition was at the tine?
In light of all of the circunstances, we reject Houston's argunent
that, as he never reached the point of actually brandi shing the gun
or aimng it at the officer, Houston did not present a substanti al
risk of serious bodily injury to the officer.

B. bstruction of Justice

Houston al so asserts that the district court erred by i nposing
a two-level increase under § 3ClL.1 for obstructing or inpeding the
admnistration of justice, based on a statenent that he asked
Ms. Pate to nmake to the prosecutor. Houston urges that the
stat enment does not support a 8 3Cl.1 adjustnent because he was not
under indictnment at the tinme of the purported conversation.

We review the finding that Houston obstructed justice under

the clearly erroneous standard. United States v. MDonald,

964 F.2d 390, 392 (5th CGr. 1992).



US SG 8§ 3ClL.1 authorizes a two-level increase if the
defendant "w llfully obstructed or inpeded, or attenpted to
obstruct or inpede, the admnistration of justice during the
i nvestigation, prosecution, or sentencing of the instant offense.

." See § 3ClL.1. Application note three to 8 3Cl.1 provides
exanpl es of what constitutes obstruction of justice, including:

3(b) commtting, suborning, or attenpting to
suborn perjury.

Wth regard to obstruction of justice, the PSR states in
pertinent part:

.. . On March 3, 1993, after Houston was
arrested on the federal charges, Pate called
AUSA May and advised her [that] the gun
Houston was <charged wth possessing was
actually one he took from her at the Health
Departnent on the day of the incident. Pate
reported she bought the gun from a person on
the street for $30 several says prior to the
i nci dent. She asked the AUSA how this
information would effect [sic] the Federal
case agai nst Houston. She was told it would
have no effect on the felon in possession of a
firearm charge. Pate later recanted this
statenent and told AUSA My that Houston
appealed to her to give that information to
officials because she was the only one who
could help himin this matter.

Ms. Pate simlarly testified at the sentenci ng hearing that Houston
had made t he request regardi ng the gun. Houston's argunent that he
was not under federal indictnent at the tinme of his all eged request
to Pate is both factually inaccurate (as he had been indicted on
February 2) and inconsequenti al. Al t hough Ms. Pate was advi sed
that her statenent would not assist Houston, his solicitation of
her assistance in proffering such a false explanation of the
presence of the firearmwas directly related to the of fense charged
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and was obvi ously nade with the hope that it would affect the case.
The district court did not err in inposing a two-Ievel enhancenent
for obstruction of justice. MDonald, 964 F.2d at 392.

For the foregoing reasons, Houston's sentence is

AFF| RMED.



